**RECEIVED**

**Mar 28 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Lexington County

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

VINCENT SHIVERS,

PETITIONER.

Op. No. 2025-UP-042

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000425

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Jason T. Yonge (SC Bar No. 102869)  
Benjamin A. Stitely (SC Bar No. 75339)  
Anna W. Yonge (SC Bar No. 102407)  
Williams, Stitely & Brink, PC  
200 E. Main St.  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 359-9000  
[jyonge@wsblegal.com](mailto:jyonge@wsblegal.com)  
[bstitely@wsblegal.com](mailto:bstitely@wsblegal.com)

**QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the trial court's decision to deny Petitioner's motion to suppress evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale entered Shivers's fenced backyard without a warrant or an objectively reasonable basis for believing someone inside the home required emergency assistance?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from Petitioner Vincent Shivers's convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1484-1485). Shivers was arrested on September 5, 2019. (R. pp. 224-225). On March 21, 2022, the State called this case for trial. (R. p. 14, lines 1-12). Shivers made two pretrial motions to suppress evidence. (R. pp. 1531-1566). The first motion was to suppress evidence obtained from the search of his residence and the vehicle found at his home, which the trial court denied. (R. pp. 19-123, 349-351). The second motion was to suppress statements made to Canadian law enforcement, which the trial court also denied. (R. pp. 136-351).

Following a jury trial, Shivers was convicted of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. pp. 1484-1485). He was sentenced to seventy-five years and five years respectively, to be served concurrently. (R. p. 1506, lines 1-5). Thereafter, Shivers timely served and filed a notice of appeal.

On February 5, 2025, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming Shivers's convictions. State v. Shivers, Op. No. 2025-UP-042 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 5, 2025). Shivers filed a petition for rehearing on February 19, 2025. The Court of Appeals issued an Order denying the petition for rehearing March 12, 2025.

This Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 3, 2019, at approximately 11:07 a.m., Lexington County Sheriff's Department Deputy Joshua Hale received a call for service requesting a welfare check on Vincent Shivers. (R. pp. 64-65). The welfare check was requested by Mr. Smith, the general manager of the Camping World location where Shivers was employed as a finance manager. (R. p. 21, lines 13-15; R. pp. 65-68).

After he received the call for service, Deputy Hale spoke with Mr. Smith on the phone. (R. pp. 91-92, lines 24-1). Based on that conversation, Deputy Hale knew the following information when he arrived at Shivers's home for the welfare check:

- a. Shivers lived at the home with his girlfriend, Roselynn Cedeno. (R. p. 67, lines 1-8).
- b. Mr. Smith believed that Ms. Cedeno did not have a job. (R. p. 67, lines 6-9).
- c. Shivers did not show up for work on Monday, September 2, 2019. (R. p. 67, lines 18-21).
- d. Shivers also had not shown up for work that morning, Tuesday, September 3, 2019. (R. p. 67, lines 18-21).
- e. It was unusual for Shivers to miss work. (R. p. 68, lines 1-11).
- f. Mr. Smith had attempted to contact Shivers by telephone and text message. (R. p. 67, lines 9-17).
- g. Mr. Smith had already sent another employee to Shivers's home, but that employee did not have contact with anyone. (R. p. 92, lines 1-10).

Deputy Hale arrived at Shivers's home at 11:31 a.m. (R. p. 69, lines 17-20). He walked down the driveway to the front door. (R. p. 69-70). There was a blue Honda Accord in the driveway. (R. p. 68, lines 20-22). When he knocked on the door and rang the doorbell, no one

answered. (R. p. 70, lines 4-12). However, he could hear a dog barking and moving around inside the house near the front door. (R. p. 70, lines 4-23).

After he did not receive a response at the front door, Deputy Hale went to the mailbox to see if there were any deliveries. (R. pp. 69-71). He found “the usual mail such as bills in envelopes” and a package addressed to Roselyn Cedeno, which listed her phone number. (R. p. 71, lines 5-18). Deputy Hale attempted to call the phone number listed on the package multiple times, but there was no answer. (R. p. 71, lines 16-18). Deputy Hale also called Mr. Smith again and determined that Shivers typically drove a Ford F-150 pickup truck. (R. p. 92-93).

Deputy Hale returned to the front of the home and knocked on the front door and garage while announcing himself as a deputy with the sheriff’s department. (R. p. 72, lines 3-12). He did not see Shivers’s vehicle in the driveway or the garage, (R. p. 93, lines 13-20), nor did he have any indication that someone was inside the home, (R. p. 74-75, lines 23-1).

Deputy Hale then returned to his patrol car and checked social media to see if either Shivers or Roselynn Cedeno had accounts. (R. p. 72, lines 13-21). However, he was not able to find any such accounts. (R. p. 72, lines 13-21). He also ran the license plate on the blue Honda Accord in the driveway, which came back to Roselynn Cedeno. (R. p. 73, lines 3-11).

After checking social media and running the license plate, Deputy Hale again walked back down the driveway to the house. (R. p. 72-73). When he approached the blue Honda Accord, he touched the hood of the car to get an indication if it had been recently driven. (R. pp. 73-74, lines 22-1). Because the hood was a “neutral heat,” he determined the vehicle likely had not been driven recently. (R. p. 74, lines 1-5).

At 11:57 a.m., about 26 minutes after he first arrived at Shivers’s home, Deputy Hale decided to check the backyard. (R. pp. 100-101). The backyard was not visible from the front of

the home because it was enclosed by a wooden privacy fence, which was five to six feet tall. (R. pp. 99-100). Deputy Hale could not see anything by looking over or through the fence, (R. p. 99-100), and the gates were shut, (R. p. 98, lines 7-17).

Deputy Hale opened the fence gate and entered the backyard. (R. p. 97-98). He did not see any vehicles or people in the backyard, but he continued to search the area. (R. pp. 75-76, lines 22-2). The back of the home had a ground floor and a large deck that went up to the second floor. (R. pp. 76-77).

When he approached the bottom floor of the home, he observed a room with lights on. (R. p. 76, lines 3-6). Looking through the window, Deputy Hale saw a loose dog in the room and “a cell phone on the vanity where a lot of make-up was placed.” (R. p. 76, lines 10-14). However, he did not see anyone inside the room. (R. p. 76, lines 7-9).

After seeing no one in the backyard or bottom floor of the home, Deputy Hale walked up the deck stairs to the second floor. (R. p. 77, lines 1-9). When he got to the second floor, he walked through an open gate onto the top patio. (R. p. 77, lines 1-9). The top patio led straight to a bedroom. (R. p. 77, lines 1-9). In plain view, through the bedroom window, Deputy Hale saw “what appeared to be a deceased person that was covered in bedsheets.” (R. p. 77, lines 1-9).

Upon seeing the body on the floor, Deputy Hale knocked on the window, shined his flashlight through the window, and announced himself as a sheriff’s deputy. (R. p. 78, lines 1-4). When he did not receive a response, he entered the bedroom through an unlocked door. (R. p. 78).

Deputy Hale walked toward the body, announced himself as a sheriff’s deputy again, and tapped the body to ensure the person was not alive and in need of medical care. (R. p. 79, lines 1-12). He then looked under the sheet and determined that it was a female. (R. p. 79, lines 13-18).

He also saw “several empty shell casings from a pistol on the left side of the body.” (R. p. 78, lines 13-15).

After calling for backup, Deputy Hale performed a protective sweep of the home. (R. p. 82, lines 2-17). Once backup and first responders arrived, and the scene was secured, a search warrant for the home was obtained. (R. pp. 1016-1017).

Officers also entered Shivers and his Ford F-150 into NCIC as missing, (R. p. 1030, lines 15-20), obtained a search warrant for his cell phone, (R. p. 563, lines 12-22), and obtained his American Express records, (R. p. 564, lines 14-20). Through those sources, officers determined that Shivers had crossed into Canada in his Ford F-150, (R. pp. 566-569), and purchased an airline ticket to London, (R. pp. 574-575). Based on that information and the evidence collected from the home, officers obtained an arrest warrant for Shivers. (R. pp. 575-576, lines 13-1).

Shivers was subsequently detained by Canadian authorities at the Pearson International Airport in Toronto, Canada, on a Canadian “immigration warrant.” (R. pp. 917-923). While he was being transported from the airport to the transport vehicle, Shivers made two statements to Canadian authorities. First, Shivers provided the location of his F-150 in the parking garage. (R. p. 926, lines 9-19). Second, Shivers told the Canadian authorities that there were two guns in the truck and he was “going to eat one in Niagara falls for what [he’d] done.” (R. p. 929, lines 15-20).

#### Suppression Hearing

Shivers made two pretrial suppression motions. First, Shivers made a motion to suppress all evidence seized from the search of his home. (R. 19-123, 1531-1548). Shivers’s counsel argued that the evidence should be suppressed because Deputy Hale exceeded the scope of a welfare check by entering the backyard through a closed fence gate. (R. pp. 108-109, 116-119, 122-123). His

counsel also argued that law enforcement exceeded the scope of the search warrant by conducting an unreasonably long six-day search of Shivers's residence. (R. pp. 108-109, 116-119, 122-123).

Second, Shivers made a motion to suppress the statements he made to Canadian authorities. (R. pp. 136-304, 1549-1566). Shivers's counsel argued that Shivers should have been read his Miranda Rights when he was detained by Canadian authorities, because authorities from the United States and Canada were engaged in a joint venture when Shivers was detained. (R. pp. 301-304, 339-347).

The trial court ultimately denied both suppression motions. (R. pp. 349-351). Regarding the evidence seized from Shivers's home, the trial court found that "the officer in this case was operating under the community caretaking doctrine. . . . I think . . . when you go to check on somebody, you're going to walk around their house." (R. pp. 350-351). The court further clarified that "I'm going to find that entry. And it's a warrantless entry. It's under the exigency exception allowable." (R. pp. 351, lines 13-15). Regarding Shivers's statements to Canadian authorities, the trial court found that Shivers was in custody when the statements were made, but there was no joint venture between the United States and Canada and Shivers made the statements voluntarily. (R. pp. 349-350).

### Trial

The evidence gathered from the search of Shivers home and his subsequent statements to Canadian authorities were admitted into evidence at trial. (R. pp. 926-929, 1507-1524).

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's decision to deny Shivers's motion to suppress evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale entered Shivers's fenced backyard without a warrant or an objectively reasonable basis for believing someone inside the home required emergency assistance.**

Vincent Shivers's convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime were based entirely on evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale opened the fence gate and entered Shivers's backyard. Therefore, if this Court determines that the trial court erred in denying Shivers's motion to suppress evidence seized from inside his home, both convictions should be reversed.

In its opinion, the court of appeals "[assumed] without deciding that the protections of the Fourth Amendment are invoked when law enforcement conducts a welfare check." State v. Shivers, Op. No. 2025-UP-042 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 5, 2025). However, it held "the trial court did not err by denying Shivers's motion to suppress because a preponderance of the evidence indicates law enforcement would have inevitably discovered the evidence." Id.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals and hold that the protections of the Fourth Amendment were invoked by the welfare check in this case and the record does not support the application of the inevitable discovery doctrine.

**I. Deputy Hale exceeded the scope of his implied license to perform a welfare check at Shivers's home when he entered the backyard through a closed privacy fence gate after a 26-minute investigation at the front of the home indicated that no one was inside.**

The purpose of Deputy Hale's visit to Shivers's home was to perform a welfare check. A "welfare check" is conducted by law enforcement based upon concern for a person's welfare, not to inquire about illegal activity at the residence." State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59, n.7 (2015). However, officers are not given carte blanche to search all areas of a home simply because a welfare check is not a criminal investigative technique. See id. Rather, "[i]n the instance of a 'welfare check,' the implicit license to approach a home as referenced in Florida v. Jardines . . . is applicable." Id.

Deputy Hale performed the welfare check by searching two areas of Shivers's home: the front of the home (including the front porch and garage areas) and the backyard (including the back porch).

Deputy Hale had an implied license, under the Fourth Amendment, to knock on Shivers's front door to perform a welfare check. The Supreme Court of the United States has "recognized that the knocker on the front door is treated as an invitation or license to attempt an entry, justifying ingress to the home by solicitors, hawkers and peddlers of all kinds." Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8 (internal quotation marks omitted). "This implicit license typically permits the visitor to approach the home by the front path, knock promptly, wait briefly to be received, and then (absent invitation to linger longer) leave." Id. Based on this rationale, an officer "not armed with a warrant may approach a home and knock, precisely because that is 'no more than any private citizen might do.'" Id. (quoting Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 470 (2011)); but see Counts, 413 S.C. at 174, 776 S.E.2d at 71 (holding that the South Carolina Constitution's heightened privacy protections require

officers to have “reasonable suspicion of illegal activity before approaching the targeted residence and conducting a ‘knock and talk.’”).

After he arrived at Shivers’s home, Deputy Hale knocked on the front door and rang the doorbell. Although he could hear a dog barking inside, no one answered. He then attempted to call Shivers and Roselyn Cedeno’s phones, without a response; determined that Cedeno’s car in the driveway had not been recently driven based on the “neutral heat” from the hood; knocked on front door again; knocked on the garage while announcing himself as a deputy sheriff; and established that Shivers’s truck was not in the driveway or garage.

After Deputy Hale spent 26 minutes in front of the home, without any indication someone was inside, the welfare check should have ended. Instead, he opened the fence gate on the side of Shivers’s home and entered the backyard.

Unlike a “knocker on the front door,” the gate on a five or six-foot-tall wooden privacy fence is not “an invitation or license to attempt an entry.” Quite the opposite. It is a clear indication that the homeowner does not want people to enter the backyard. A homeowner does not have an obligation to open the front door when someone knocks, regardless of “whether the person who knocks . . . is a police officer or a private citizen.” King, 563 U.S. at 469-70. In fact, at “[t]he ‘very core’ of [the Fourth Amendment] is ‘the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable government intrusion.’” Caniglia v. Strom, 141 S.Ct. 1596, 1599 (2021) (quoting Jardines, 569 U.S. at 6). This right to be left alone inside your home would be meaningless if everyone from Girl Scouts and trick-or-treaters to neighbors and the police had an implied license to invade your fenced backyard if you did not answer the front door. See Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8 (“Complying with the terms of that traditional invitation [to approach the front door] does not

require fine-grained legal knowledge; it is generally managed without incident by the Nation's Girl Scouts and trick-or-treaters.”).

Because he entered the fenced backyard, Deputy Hale exceeded the scope of his implied license to perform a welfare check at Shivers's home. Furthermore, no exception to the warrant requirement applied at the moment he opened the fence gate.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, Deputy Hale's search of Shivers's backyard violated the Fourth Amendment, and all evidence seized as a result should have been suppressed. See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 441 (1984) (“[T]he exclusionary rule applies not only to the illegally obtained evidence itself, but also to other incriminating evidence derived from the primary evidence.”); State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 232, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996) (“The ‘fruit of the poisonous tree’ doctrine provides that evidence must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality.”).

---

<sup>1</sup> Neither the community caretaking nor the emergency aid exceptions to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement apply here. The Supreme Court of the United States has only ever applied the community caretaking exception to searches of vehicles, and has “repeatedly declined to expand the scope . . . to permit warrantless entry into the home.” Caniglia v. Strom, 141 S.Ct. 1596, 1600 (2021) (internal quotation marks omitted). The emergency aid exception does not apply because Deputy Hale did not have “an objectively reasonable basis for believing” that an emergency was occurring inside or that an occupant was “in need of immediate aid” after his 26-minute investigation at the front of the home. See Michigan v. Fisher, 558 U.S. 45, 47 (2009) (quoting Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 392 (1978)).

**II. The exclusionary rule applies to all evidence flowing from Deputy Hale’s unconstitutional entry into Shivers’s backyard, and the record does not support the conclusion that this evidence would have been inevitably discovered by lawful means.**

All the evidence in this case, including the evidence seized from Shivers’s home and the statements he made to Canadian authorities, flowed from Deputy Hale’s unconstitutional entry into Shivers’s backyard. If Deputy Hale had not entered Shivers’s backyard, law enforcement would not have had the requisite probable cause to get a search warrant for his home or the cell phone data that was introduced at trial; nor would law enforcement have discovered that Shivers was in Canada, where his statements to Canadian authorities were made.

The exclusionary rule prohibits the use of evidence obtained through an unlawful search and/or seizure. See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 441 (1984) (“[T]he exclusionary rule applies not only to the illegally obtained evidence itself, but also to other incriminating evidence derived from the primary evidence.”); State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 232, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996) (“The ‘fruit of the poisonous tree’ doctrine provides that evidence must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality.”).

However, while “cases implementing the exclusionary rule ‘begin with the premise that the challenged evidence is in some sense the product of illegal governmental activity . . . this does not end the inquiry.’” Nix, 467 U.S. at 444 (quoting United States v. Crews, 445 U.S. 463, 471 (1980)). Rather, “[i]f the prosecution can establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the information ultimately or inevitably would have been discovered by lawful means . . . the evidence should be received.” Id.

The court of appeals erred by holding that the inevitable discovery doctrine applied in this case.

The issue of inevitable discovery was never raised and ruled upon in this case because the trial court improperly ruled that Deputy Hale's entry into Shivers's backyard was constitutional. Although an appellate court may affirm a lower court's ruling on additional sustaining grounds, those additional sustaining grounds must be supported by the record on appeal. See I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419-20, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723-24 (2000). Unlike State v. Cardwell, which the court of appeals cited in its opinion, the State did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that law enforcement would have inevitably discovered the evidence in this case.

In Cardwell, a computer technician was repairing Cardwell's laptop when the local police chief stopped by to drop off packages. State v. Cardwell, 425 S.C. 595, 597, 824 S.E.2d 451, 452 (2019). While the chief was there, an image depicting a naked child in a bra went across the computer screen. Id., 425 S.C. at 597-98, 824 S.E.2d at 452. The chief asked the computer technician to click on the image, which turned out to be a video showing two naked children dancing with a naked adult. Id., 425 S.C. at 598, 824 S.E.2d at 452. The chief contacted another law enforcement agency that ultimately took possession of the laptop and opened a criminal investigation. Id.

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