RECEIVED

Apr 28 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

VINCENT T. SHIVERS, III,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000425

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner and the victim’s home was searched pursuant to a warrant. Officers determined there were no signs of forced entry. Officers found and seized seven fired brass cartridges with “HPR .45 auto” on the headstamp of each cartridge, one “projectile” in a dresser, two more bullets between the victim’s back and her camisole, and two more lying on the carpet under her body. (ROA, 632-638; 639-646; 671; 691). Officers found two empty suitcases and a suitcase with a partial box of HPR .45 ACP inside of it in the master bedroom. This ammunition was consistent with the shell casings that had been recovered. On one of the shelves in the master bedroom closet, they found and seized two magazines that were specific to a Springfield Armory

XD .45 caliber but could be fired in any .45 caliber weapon. Each magazine had twelve HPR .45 auto cartridges in it, which was consistent with the fired cartridge cases seized the previous day. An empty box for a Springfield Armory XD .45 weapon was also found in the closet. However, they never found a Springfield Armory XD .45 pistol in the house. (ROA, 663; 672-676).

Forensic pathologist Dr. Thomas Beavers determined the victim's cause of death to be by "multiple gunshot wounds" and that "the manner of death [was] homicide." (ROA, 1218; 1220-1221). The victim had been shot seven times. At least three of the shots were fired by the shooter standing over her and shooting her in the back while she lay face down on the floor. Three of the shots – including one going through the right lung, and two striking her heart - were fatal. (ROA, 1237-1251; 1253). No defensive wounds were identified or any evidence that she had been in an altercation. Dr. Beavers opined that the victim had been dead between twelve (12) and seventy-two (72) hours when her body was found on September 3rd. (ROA, 1227-1233; 1566-1269).

Petitioner's Movements after the Murder

After the discovery of the victim, Petitioner was entered as a missing person and the information in the database included both a photograph of him and information about his F-150. A "press release" BOLO for local agencies on Wednesday, September 4th was issued, and an "exigent circumstances" request was made through Verizon for Petitioner's cell phone records that was followed up with a search warrant. The records reflect that the last known communications between Petitioner and the victim was a text message Petitioner sent to her at 5:22PM on Sunday, September 1st, that said "on my way." (ROA, 585-588; 600; 1036-1037). These records also corroborated Tommy Cedeno's testimony about his communications with his mother on September 1st, as well as his and other family members' unsuccessful efforts to

contact her beginning at 10:21AM on September 2nd. The last digital activity was the victim contacting an online game at 6:42PM September 1st. (ROA, 799-828).

Petitioner's American Express records also revealed that he had made a purchase at the Circle K/Shell gas station located at the corner of Lake Murray Bld. and St. Andrews Rd. in Irmo, South Carolina, at 8:04AM. on September 2nd. The store's surveillance video showed him filling up his F-150 and then leaving in the opposite direction from his home and in the direction of I-26 on St. Andrews Rd. (ROA, 575-585; 599). His American Express records also reflected that he had purchased a ticket to fly to London, England on Air Canada at 3:34PM on September 4th. (ROA, 564; 574).

Petitioner's Arrest

An arrest warrant charging Petitioner with murder was obtained on September 5th. By the evening of Thursday, September 5th, law enforcement was notified that Petitioner had earlier crossed into Canada. Video surveillance showed Petitioner crossing into Canada which law enforcement received from Canadian authorities. (ROA, 560-567; 1019). The case changed from a missing person search to a homicide investigation with Petitioner as a suspect because the video (State's Ex. 52) reflected that he was alone in his vehicle, there were no signs of duress or threats to him, and he was smiling. A "traveler history" provided by the Canada Border Services Agency reflected that he had entered into Canada at 1PM on September 3rd. Lexington County was notified after 5PM on September 5th that Petitioner had been arrested at a Toronto airport, where he had a ticket to fly to London, England on Air Canada. (ROA, 567-575).

Upon Petitioner's arrest, Canadian officers advised him that he was being arrested under the Canadian warrant, and he was handcuffed and searched. A cell phone and a set of keys was seized from Petitioner's person as well as his one piece of carry-on luggage. He was advised of

his Canadian rights, which included being informed of the reason for the arrest, his right to speak to an attorney, and that his consulate would be notified if he wished. Four officers then took him to a transport van in the garage, so that he could be taken to a Canada Border Services Agency and processed on the arrest warrant. While the officers spoke to each other, no one spoke to Petitioner. (ROA, 923-927; 938-939). When Officers began talking about locating Petitioner's black F-150, Petitioner spontaneously volunteered its location in the garage. Officers then reached the transport van and Petitioner was placed in the rear seat. (ROA, 927-929; 978). As Petitioner was being secured in the seatbelt, Petitioner voluntarily stated:

“[L]isten, be careful, there's two guns in the truck. One in the middle console, it's loaded and another in an old briefcase in the backseat also loaded. One's a Kimber .45 and one's an XT9. I was going to eat one in Niagara Falls for what I'd done.”

(ROA, 929; 945).

Petitioner's truck was brought back to Lexington where it was searched pursuant to a warrant. A Kimber .45 caliber pistol was recovered from a briefcase and a Springfield 9 mm pistol was recovered from the console. Neither of these was the murder weapon. Police never recovered the Springfield .45 caliber pistol associated with the box seized from the master bedroom, even though that weapon was entered into NCIC. (ROA, 1039-1047).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment is a dual inquiry which reviews the trial court's factual findings for any evidentiary support, however the ultimate legal conclusion is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 633-634, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court did not err in denying the suppression motion because the record supports the conclusion that law enforcement would have inevitably discovered that the victim was deceased in her home, and a subsequent investigation as to Petitioner's whereabouts would have ensued considering Petitioner could not be located, and did not intend to return to the scene of the crime.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence gathered by law enforcement after Deputy Hale entered Petitioner's fenced backyard while conducting a welfare check. The Court of Appeals did not address whether Fourth Amendment protections are invoked when law enforcement conducts a welfare check but held that based on a preponderance of the evidence, law enforcement would have inevitably discovered the evidence Petitioner moved to suppress at trial.

Though the issue goes unaddressed, Respondent maintains that Deputy Hales' actions are justified under the emergency aid exception and the circumstances of the entry. "[T]he exigencies of the situation' [may] make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that the warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." *Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403, 126 S.Ct. 1943, 1947 (2006) citing *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 393-394, 98 S.Ct. 24 (1978). "One exigency obviating the requirement of a warrant is the need to assist persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury." *Id.* "Exigencies" exist when an officer would reasonably suspect that the conditions create a need to act "now or never" to protect an important public interest. *Roaden v. Kentucky*, 413 U.S. 496, 505, 93 S.Ct. 2796 (1973). Based on the information Deputy Hale was given and further gathered at the residence, he had an objectively reasonable basis for believing that someone could be injured and in need of assistance in the home. There is no indication that at the time Deputy Hale entered the

backyard, he had any other motive than to address his concerns for Petitioner and the victim's safety. That alone is sufficient to affirm.

Petitioner argues that inevitable discovery was not an issue that was raised and ruled upon at trial due to the trial court's ruling that Deputy Hale's entry into Petitioner's backyard was constitutional, and that the facts supporting inevitable discovery of the evidence are not supported by the record on appeal. (Petition at 14). Petitioner further contends that the Court of Appeals reliance on *State v. Cardwell*, 425 S.C. 595, 824 S.E.2d 451 (2019) is contradictory to Petitioner's case considering that in Petitioner's case, the State did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that law enforcement would have inevitably discovered the evidence. (Petition at 14).

“[T]he inevitable discovery doctrine provides that illegally obtained information may nevertheless be admissible if the prosecution can establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the information would have ultimately been discovered by lawful means.” *State v. Cardwell*, 425 S.C. 595, 601, 824 S.E.2d 451, 454 (2019) citing *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 444, 104 S. Ct. 2501 (1984). The evidence at trial included testimony from friends and family of Petitioner and the victim, and their concern regarding Petitioner's failure to show up for work on multiple days, and the victim's sudden cease of communication between family members when they had planned to stay at the victim's residence due to a mandatory evacuation. The victim's son, Tommy Cedeno, communicated with the victim prior to the landfall of Hurricane Dorian, and they had agreed that the family, to include the victim's parents and Tommy's children and wife, would evacuate from Beaufort to the victim and Petitioner's shared residence in Lexington. They planned to touch base the next morning, and the family had planned to leave between 7AM and 8AM. However, after attempting to call the victim that morning with no response, the family

stayed in Beaufort. Tommy testified that it was unusual for his mother to not quickly answer his texts and calls. (ROA, 411-431; 439-440).

Charles Watson and Eric Weir, both worked with Petitioner at Camping World and testified that Petitioner did not show up to work on September 2nd or 3rd, which was out of character for Petitioner because he had a reputation for being on time and had not requested time off. After attempts of messaging Petitioner with no reply and attempting to check on Petitioner at his residence, Mr. Smith called the victim and left her a voicemail inquiring about Petitioner's wellbeing. After all of these unsuccessful efforts to locate Petitioner, Mr. Smith called the Lexington County Sheriff's department and requested a welfare check. (ROA, 375-383; 384-387; 390-391; 458-461; 467-478; 495).

It is clear that numerous people were worried about the victim and Petitioner's wellbeing since neither could be reached by phone or in person when visiting the residence. Even if Deputy Hale left the residence unaware as to the victim's death and no suspicions of Petitioner committing a crime, the concern of Petitioner's wellbeing as reported by Mr. Smith remains imminent. Deputy Hale was aware that Petitioner had a heart condition and also noticed that Petitioner's vehicle was not in the driveway of the residence, but the victim's vehicle was. He checked and saw that a package in the mail had not been retrieved, which was addressed to the victim and listed her phone number. Deputy Hale called that number four times but never got a response. (ROA, 507-510). Petitioner and the victim would have been reported as missing, and law enforcement is well within reason to obtain search warrants for Petitioner and the victim's cell and bank records in an attempt to determine their last known locations in efforts of ensuring their safety.

Petitioner's argument appears to focus on the timeframe of inevitable discovery, arguing that the State did not present any evidence at trial that the evidence leading to Petitioner's arrest would have been discovered within a specific timeframe. (Petition at 15). Petitioner alleges that had Deputy Hale not entered the fenced backyard and seen the victim through the window, he would not have entered the home and discovered information that implicated Petitioner which led to his detainment by Canadian authorities at the Pearson Airport in Toronto, Canada, where he made two statements to Canadian authorities. Despite Petitioner's contention, the record provides for ample opportunities that law enforcement could have discovered the information leading them to Petitioner. While Petitioner argues that he would not have been detained by Canadian authorities had Officer Hale not entered his backyard, that argument only suggests that Petitioner would have escaped custody, not that he would not have been identified as a suspect for the victim's murder. Petitioner's statement is the only evidence that is a circumstance of timing, and the overwhelming additional evidence in support of his guilt would have been discovered absent Petitioner's arrest in Toronto.

Petitioner's reliance on *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431 (1984) is misplaced on the relevant timing of discovering the evidence. The *Nix* Court, along with three earlier courts, found that the search for the 10-year-old victim would have continued had Williams not earlier led the police to the body and the body inevitably would have been found. *Id.*, 467 U.S. at 449. The testimony suggested that it likely would have taken an additional three to five hours to discover the body, however the *Nix* Court placed no emphasis on the timeframe that the search could have taken, but that the search would have resumed regardless of Williams' information. *Id.*, 467 U.S. at 449-450.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion that this Court is left to speculate when the victim would have been found, and that the evidence obtained in this case would still be available, the record supports that absent Deputy Hale's entry into the fenced backyard, the primary concern of Petitioner and the victim's wellbeing remains. *See United States v. Lauria*, 70 F.4th 106, 124 (2d Cir. 2023) (finding that the inevitable discovery exception did not apply when the government would have had no reason to pursue alternative lawful means to procure the evidence at issue). The victim and Petitioner's whereabouts would have continued to be pursued, and the information law enforcement collected that supports Petitioner's guilt would have been discovered absent Deputy Hale's lawful entry into the backyard.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Petitioner shows no cause to review the well supported Court of Appeals opinion. Respondent respectfully requests the Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.